
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Tuesday, 3 October 2017 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, F Biggadike, M D Booth, R Clark, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
A Harrison, J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), A M Newton, J L Reynolds, 
E J Sneath, J Tyrrell and A R Woolf (Chairman)

Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings.

Quorum: 6

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   25 September 2017



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Policy Development Panel held on 25 July 2017 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
1 - 6)

3. Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy 
enclosed).  

(Pages 
7 - 10)

8. Policy Register - Members are requested to note the current Policy 
Register (copy attached).

(Pages 
11 - 14)

9. Corporate Health and Safety Policy 2017 – To propose a revised Health 
and Safety Policy and to recommend its formal adoption and 
implementation (report of the Executive Manager People and Public 
Protection enclosed).

(Pages 
15 - 40)

10. Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaints Policy - To consider the draft 
Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and 
Customer Behaviour and Vexatious Requests  (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed).

(Pages 
41 - 52)

11. Data Protection/Data Retention - The Executive Manager Governance 
will be in attendance to provide members with a verbal update on the 
current situation, in light of the forthcoming General Data Protection 
Regulation, due to come into force in May 2018, and the results of a 
consultant’s report.

12. Officer Code of Conduct - To present an update of the Officer Code of 
Conduct (report of the Executive Manager People and Public Protection 
enclosed)

(Pages 
53 - 74)

13. Apprenticeship Programme - That the Apprenticeship Programme be 
approved (report of the Executive Manager People and Public 
Protection)

(To 
Follow)



14. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To set out the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed).

(Pages 
75 - 82)

15. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in Meeting Room 
1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 25 July 2017 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

A R Woolf (Chairman)

J R Astill
F Biggadike
H Drury
L J Eldridge

A Harrison
J L King
A M Newton
J L Reynolds

E J Sneath
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  The South Holland Place Manager, the Development Manager and 
the Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M D Booth and 
R Clark. 

Action By
1. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Policy Development Panel held 
on 9 May 2017 were agreed as a correct record.

At a meeting on 28 February 2017, where the Panel had received 
an update on the current situation around empty homes, 
members had requested that they be provided with a list of empty 
homes within their wards in order that they could provide officers 
with any local knowledge.  At the time it had been stated that 
officers would first confirm if there were any data protection issues 
with regard to sharing this information, but members would either 
be provided with these details or at least numbers of properties 
per ward.  This information had not been received, and was again 
requested. 

MC, PS, 
CM 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

In relation to the discussion around HMOs at agenda item 10, 
Councillor Drury informed the meeting that in the interests of 
transparency, he wished it to be recorded that he had a pecuniary 
interest in a number of licensed HMOs.  He remained in the 
meeting during discussion of this item. 

3. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were no questions asked under Standing Order 6. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 25 July 
2017

4. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were no tracking of recommendations to consider. 

5. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were no items referred from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel. 

6. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan published on 
17 July 2017.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

7. POLICY REGISTER 

The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register that was 
dated 23 June 2017.

It was noted that the register had been improved by the inclusion 
of each policy’s cycle, and it was laid out in order of approved 
date.  

Member’s raised the following issues:

 What was the position with the Safeguarding Policy, as there 
was no approved date against this item?  

o This policy was currently being reviewed.  Members 
would be advised of the cycle of the review and why 
an approved date had not been added.

 The Modern Slavery Statement was to be considered at 
Council on 26 July – should this be added to the Policy 
Register?

o In due course it would be reviewed, most probably 
in 3 years time, and would be added to the Policy 
Register.

 A large number of properties were not numbered – could the 
Authority at least ensure that its own council homes were 
clearly numbered?

o This issue was not covered by the Street Naming 
and Numbering Policy however, the numbering of 

Page 2



- 3 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 25 July 
2017

properties could possibly be considered when the 
Policy was reviewed.

 Some of the policies were statutory and out of date (e.g. South 
Holland Common Housing Allocations Policy, Health and 
Safety Policy), showing as high risk and that they were being 
reviewed.  Was this sufficient?

o Another column had to be added showing an 
anticipated date for completion.  Information from 
various work planners needed to be included on the 
Register.

AGREED:

That the Policy Register be noted. 

CP 

8. PLANNING DESIGN AND DERELICT AND DILAPIDATED 
BUILDINGS 

Consideration was given to the report of the Director of Place 
which responded to a request from the Panel for more information 
on Planning Design and Derelict and Dilapidated Buildings, in 
order that the Panel could decide whether or not to set up a Task 
Group on these topics.

Planning Design was considered first.  The South Holland Local 
Plan 2006 remained the adopted development plan and Policy 
SG14 was the main design policy.  The relevant sections of these 
were detailed within the report. Also detailed was Section 7 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework around required good 
design.

Although currently having limited weight in the determination of 
current planning applications, the proposed design policy 
framework in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, recently 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate, was included for 
information. 

The Panel considered the information provided, and the following 
points were raised regarding design: 

 Aesthetics should be considered as part of design
 There was little variation in the general style of housing 

available throughout the District – more variation was needed.  
There should be more detail in design.

 The positioning of housing types within larger developments 
was important in order to build social cohesion.

 Density of housing – was there any way of influencing this?

Page 3



- 4 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 25 July 
2017

Officers responded with a number of points:

 There was not a specific style of housing typical of the fen 
landscape, other than the traditional fen cottage vernacular, 
and more generic styles of housing had been built within the 
last 50 or so years. 

 The emerging Local Plan took on some of the design issues 
raised.  However, a policy that was too prescriptive would not 
be workable or be supported by the Inspectorate.

 An area that members may wish to consider as part of a Task 
Group was whether there were enough controls in the design 
policies, or whether they needed expanding.  Did they provide 
enough scope to build on in the future?  Were policies broad 
enough that there was confidence they would be delivered 
well within the next 30-40 years?

 Policies for the future were required.  Recent builds should be 
considered rather than older ones to identify what worked and 
what didn’t, and whether policies affecting the new builds were 
satisfactory to deliver for the future

 Timing of a Task Group should be considered.  Reviewing 
newer builds and how they worked should be done over a 
period of time, and would be a large undertaking.  The Local 
Plan was currently undergoing an examination period and it 
was suggested that a Task Group be set up once this process 
was concluded.

 This area of work fell under the remit of the Planning Policy 
Team, and would need to fit in with the Local Plan process.

The Place Manager provided the Panel with an update on derelict 
and dilapidated buildings.  He stated that the street scene, Pride 
in South Holland and derelict and dilapidated buildings sat under 
the same umbrella, and each were very different issues in their 
own right.  The main issues centred around what the site looked 
like and what its consequences were (e.g. anti social behaviour).

There had been some notable successes with some sites over 
the last few years e.g. The New Inn at Pode Hole and the 
Chatterton Water Tower, and there had been some issues dealt 
with and some improvements made at others, including the Bull 
and Monkie site in Spalding.  Ultimately, a Task Group looking at 
derelict and dilapidated sites would be ineffective as conclusions 
would be very difficult to come to due to each site being uniquely 
different.

A report was due to be presented to the Cabinet in September 
updating on the situation around street scene and untidy sites, 
and how the restructure of the Place Team would work to 

Page 4



- 5 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 25 July 
2017

approach enforcement through one central, cohesive team.

AGREED:

a) That the report of the Director of Place, and the update 
provided by the Place Manager be noted;  and

b) That a Task Group to look at Planning Design, with 
membership to be confirmed at a later date, be added to the 
Panel’s Work Programme, and  that work commence in 2018 
following the end of the examination period of the Local Plan.

(The Planning Development Manager left the meeting following 
discussion of this item.) 

CM 

9. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel.  The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 
by the Panel.

Alongside consideration of this item, the Panel was asked to 
consider its Work Programme, how it could be progressed, and 
issues the Panel or its Task Groups should be involved in 
scrutinising.  The Place Manager was in attendance to facilitate 
the discussion.

Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) and homelessness were 
areas suggested for consideration, and the following points were 
raised: 

 A review looking into unlicensed HMOs, and the policy around 
how these were dealt with, was the main area of concern – 
these HMOs were the most likely to be unsafe or have 
antisocial behaviour issues.

 Licensing of HMOs in general could be reviewed.
 Were there problems with HMOs and if so, how could they be 

addressed? 
 A Task Group would need to be clear about its scope, and the 

nature of the perceived problem – previously, consideration 
had been given to this issue from a planning perspective 
rather than a behavioural one. 

 Homelessness could be an outcome associated with 
unlicensed HMOs and may be an issue for a future Task 

Page 5



- 6 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 25 July 
2017

Group to consider.

It was agreed that a member of the Private Sector Housing Team 
be invited to a Panel meeting in December to explain processes 
and issues around HMOs in order to assist the Panel in forming a 
clear terms of reference for a Task Group.  The Task Group 
would start its work after the Task Group set up to look at 
Planning Design, as considered in the previous minute.

Councillor Drury stated that due to his line of work, he may not be 
able to be a member of the Task Group however, he had a lot of 
knowledge in this area and would like to contribute in some way.

AGREED:

a) That both sections of the Panel’s Work Programme, as set out 
in the report of the Executive Manager Governance, be noted; 
and

b) That a member of the Private Sector Housing Team be invited 
to the Panel meeting in December to explain processes and 
issues around HMOs in order to assist the Panel in forming a 
clear terms of reference for a Task Group, which would 
commence its work following completion of the Task Group 
looking at Planning Design. 

(Councillors Newton and King left the meeting during discussion 
of the above item.) 

CM 

10. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items. 

(The meeting ended at 8.10 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 6



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued –  
11 September 2017 

  

 
Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 

is likely to be made, to:  
 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 
The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 

 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 7.



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Lincolnshire 
Wellbeing 
Service 
 

Delivery of the Wellbeing Service 
 

Meetings and Discussions 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health Before 
30 Sep 2017 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract 
 

To award a contract. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing.  
 
Meetings and discussions.  
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Sep 
2017 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Insourcing of 
clearance and 
maintenance 
services - TUPE 
transfer 
 

To seek approval for the insourcing of 
work areas and transfer of staff to the 
Council’s Environmental Services 
team. 
 

South Holland 
Maintenance 
 

 South Holland District 
Council 17 Jan 2018 
 

P
age 8



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock 
 

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager. 
 
Informal meetings and 
discussions. 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Sep 
2017 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Finance 
 
 
Welland Homes 
Limited - 
Development 
Business Plan 
 

To outline the findings of the review of the 
next layer of the Welland Homes Business 
Plan. 

 

 
 
 
 

Welland Homes 
Limited - 
Development 
Business Plan 

South Holland District 
Council 17 Jan 2018 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Update on the 
Garden Waste 
Collection Pilot 
 

To update Councillors on the Garden 
Waste Pilot, and set out options for the 
future.  
 

Portfolio Holder for Place 
and Executive Director 
Place 
 
Meetings and 
correspondence 
 

Update on the 
Garden Waste 
Collection Pilot 

South Holland District 
Council 17 Jan 2018 
 

P
age 9



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Electrical 
Materials Supply 
Contract (EMSC) 
2017 - 2021 
 

To award the EMSC to the successful 
supplier from the outcome of the 
procurement process 
 

Meetings and discussions 
 

 Officer Decisions Before 
30 Sep 2017 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C Johnson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

P
age 10



1

SHDC Policy Register (New) 
 
Generated on: 05 September 2017 

Rows are sorted by Approved Date

Policy Title Policy Type Approved
Date

Policy Review
Cycle 

Policy Status Policy Risk
Level 

Final Panel for
Approval

Date to Final
Approval Panel

Assigned To

Street Naming and
Numbering Policy

Statutory 01-Jan-2005 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Cabinet 21-Nov-2017 Clinton Bell

Records Management
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Jan-2005 3 years Being
Reviewed

High EMT 31-Dec-2017 Greg Pearson

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory 01-Mar-2008 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Cabinet 30-Jan-2018 Dee Bedford

Affordable Housing
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Jan-2009 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Full Council 04-Apr-2018 Matthew Hogan

Counter Fraud and
Corruption Policy

Non Statutory 24-Feb-2009 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Full Council 17-Jan-2018 Emma Hodds

Strategic Tenancy
Policy

Statutory 12-Sep-2012 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Full Council   Matthew Hogan

South Holland Common
Housing Allocations
Policy

Statutory 01-Jun-2013 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Full Council   Phil Stacey

Sexual Establishments
Policy Statement

Non Statutory 19-Jun-2013 3 years Being
Reviewed

Medium Licensing
Committee

25-Jan-2018 Donna Hall

Anti-Social Behaviour
Policy

Statutory 18-Dec-2013 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Full Council 30-Jan-2018 Dee Bedford

Equalities Policy Non Statutory 31-Jan-2014 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Full Council 30-Jan-2018 Greg Pearson

Corporate Debt Policy -
Accounting Services

Non Statutory 08-Apr-2014 3 years Approved Low Chief Accountant 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Data Protection Policy Statutory 01-Jun-2014 3 years Approved High Cabinet 22-May-2018 Mark Stinson
Freedom of Information
(FoI) Policy

Statutory 01-Jun-2014 3 years Approved High Cabinet 17-Jan-2018 Greg Pearson

Asset Management
Strategy

Constitutional 18-Jun-2014 5 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jun-2019 Emily Spicer

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 8.



2

Policy Title Policy Type Approved
Date

Policy Review
Cycle 

Policy Status Policy Risk
Level 

Final Panel for
Approval

Date to Final
Approval Panel

Assigned To

Health & Safety Policy Statutory 31-Mar-2015 2 years Being
Reviewed

High Full Council 01-Nov-2017 Nick Kendrick

Gambling Policy -
Statement of Principles

Constitutional 16-Dec-2015 3 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jan-2019 Donna Hall

Statement of Licensing
Policy

Constitutional 07-Jan-2016 4 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jan-2020 Donna Hall

AHM Collections
Development Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2016 2 years Approved Medium Cabinet 27-Mar-2018 Julia Knight

AHM Collections Care
and Conservation
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2016 2 years Approved Medium Cabinet 27-Mar-2018 Julia Knight

Whistleblowing Policy -
Confidential Reporting
Code

Statutory 16-Apr-2016 3 years Approved High Full Council 17-Jan-2018 Emma Hodds

Corporate Asbestos
Policy

Statutory 22-Jun-2016 2 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jun-2018 Nick Kendrick

Constitution Statutory 18-Jan-2017 1 year Approved High Full Council 17-Jan-2018 Rhonda Booth
Capability Policy Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton
Disciplinary Policy Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved High Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton
Grievance Policy Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton
Bullying and
Harassment

Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton

Learning &
Development Policy

Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Low Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton

Managing Attendance
Policy

Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Full Council 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton

Parental Rights Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton
Recruitment and
Selection Policy

Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Cabinet 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton

Managing and
Supporting Change
Policy

Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton

Corporate Plan Constitutional 22-Feb-2017 1 year Approved High Full Council 21-Feb-2018 Greg Pearson
Capital Strategy Constitutional 22-Feb-2017 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury
Corporate Charging
Policy - Accounting
Services

Constitutional 22-Feb-2017 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

P
age 12



3

Policy Title Policy Type Approved
Date

Policy Review
Cycle 

Policy Status Policy Risk
Level 

Final Panel for
Approval

Date to Final
Approval Panel

Assigned To

Medium Term Financial
Strategy

Constitutional 22-Feb-2017 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Treasury Management
Strategy Statement

Constitutional 22-Feb-2017 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Safeguarding Policy Statutory   3 years New High Full Council 17-Jan-2018 Donna Hall
Unreasonable
Behaviour and
vexatious requests

Non Statutory   3 years Being
Reviewed

Medium Full Council 01-Nov-2017 Sarah Wolstenholme-
Smy

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for People and Information and Executive Manager for 
People and Public Protection 

To: Policy Development Panel: Tuesday, 3 October 2017
Cabinet: Tuesday 21 November 2017

Author: Nick Kendrick, Health and Safety Advisor

Subject Corporate H & S Policy 2017 

Purpose: To propose a revised Health and Safety Policy and to recommend its formal 
adoption and implementation 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Policy Development Panel agree that the Policy should go to Cabinet for approval 
and adoption.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 imposes duties on South Holland Council, as 
an employer. These include:

1. Adoption and review of a written Health and Safety Policy Statement
2. Ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare 

at work of its employees
3. Ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety of others 

visiting South Holland DC’s premises or using its services
1.2 The existing Health and Safety Policy has been in force since 2015 and is now due for 

review. This revised policy has been amended to take account of the changes in the 
Corporate Structure. The Policy is still applicable to both Council’s and provides 
commonality. It has also been reviewed to ensure it remains up to date, is effective and 
relevant.

1.3 The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for implementation of the Policy and will do 
any amendments in conjunction with the leader of the Council. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Agree the adoption of the revised Health and Safety Policy

2.2 Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure South Holland’s is in compliance with its statutory duties.

Page 15

Agenda Item 9.



3.2 To protect the health and safety and welfare of employees and the health and safety of 
visitors to South Holland’s premises or where services are provided by the Council.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure compliance with the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and assist with 
consistent application of the policy across both Councils/

4.2 Better and more effective standards of Health and Safety Management. This will lead to 
better health and safety of the workplace. Less sickness, better morale and productivity.

4.3 If the council should face injury/compensation claims or legal enforcement action then the 
existence of an up to date Health and Safety Policy (which lays out the Council’s Health 
and Safety Management arrangements) is likely to substantially reduce the success of such 
claims.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 It is a requirement of the Health and safety at Work etc Act 1974 that employers with five or 
more employees produce and revise a written health and safety policy.

5.2.2 The failure to have a Health and Safety Policy Statement is an offence and the Council 
could be liable for prosecution and also civil claims.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. However the 
management of contractors is captured by Health and Safety Law and the revised policy 
will assist this process.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 This proposal supports the following corporate priorities:

 Having Pride in South Holland
 To develop stronger communities (by protecting and improving Health and 

Wellbeing).

Page 16



5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report that there are no implications

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 Equal opportunities. South Holland has a duty to protect the health and safety of all staff 
and visitor regardless of race, creed, any disability etc.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications of approving the policy

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 This policy is fundamental in protecting the health and wellbeing of employees, and the 
protection of any other persons who could be affected by the Council’s undertakings.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 Compliance with Health and Safety legislation will safeguard the Council’s reputation.

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 The proposed policy is fundamental in laying down the framework for managing 
occupational health and safety at work and reducing risk levels for employees and work 
activities.

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 There are no staffing implications by approving the policy. All staff will receive suitable and 
relevant training on their role and duties in ensuring the implementation of this policy.

5.13 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.13.1 No further consultation is required. The Policy has already been to the relevant Strategic 
Health and Safety Groups and the relevant parties and stakeholders. At the present time 
Unison have no comments to make. EMT requested the policy be slightly re-worked to 
allow changes to be made more easily, with the introduction of Appendices and the 
introduction of a procedure on Terrorism has now been included. The requirements to 
adhere to the Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 have also been 
included within the policy.

Page 17



5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 No acronyms used.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Adams, Executive Manager for People and Public Protection
Telephone Number 01775 764657
Email: phillip.adams@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Revised Health and Safety Policy

Page 18



   

APPENDIX A    

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Health & Safety Policy

Sept 2017

Page 19



Page 2 of 21

Document Control and History

Version Control
Issue No. Author Issue Date Reasons for Issue
1 NK Oct 2012 Revision of previous policy 

document
2 NK/JH Oct 2014 Revision of policy document
3 PA Dec 2014 Revision of policy document
4 PA April 2017 Revision of policy document
5 NK June 2017 Revision of policy document

South Holland
Issue No. Approval Process Date
5 Joint Strategic Corporate Health & 

Safety Group
17/05/2017

5 Corporate H & S Group 13/07/2017
5 EMT 31/07/2017
5 PDP 03/10/2017
5 Cabinet 21/11/2017

Revision Schedule
Issue No. Cycle Job Title Next Due
1 Every 2 yrs H & S Team March 2017
2 Every 3 yrs H & S Team Sept 2020

Added to Policy Register
Yes/No Policy Officer Signature 

and Date
Authors Signature and Date

Page 20



Page 3 of 21

Contents

Section 1 Policy Statement

1.1 Scope – Policy Aim 5
1.2 Policy Consultation and Consideration
1.3General Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement

Section 2 Management Control and Organisation

2.1 Individual Responsibilities 8

2.2 Specific Responsibilities
2.2.1 Full Council
2.2.2 Chief Executive 9
2.2.3 Executive Management Team (EMT)
2.2.4 Executive Management team member responsible for Health and Safety 10
2.2.5 Section 151 Officer
2.2.6 Shared Executive Director Place 

2.2.7 All other Shared Managers 11
2.2.8 Managers (including Team Leaders and Supervisors) 12
2.2.9 Health and Safety Team 13
2.2.10 Fire Marshalls 
2.2.11 First Aiders 14
2.2.12 Each Employee 
2.2.13 Occupational Health 
2.2.14 Non-Council Employees’ Responsibilities 15

 Contractors or other such persons
 Manufacturers and Suppliers

2.2.15 Trade Union Representatives 
2.2.16 Joint Strategic Corporate H&S Group 16
2.2.17 Health and Safety Group 

Section 3 Implementation - Arrangements for Health and 
Safety

3.1 General 18
3.2 Communication, co-operation and consultation 
3.3 Co-operation with Regulatory Authorities 
3.4 Information, instruction and training 19

3.4.1 General
3.4.2 Induction
3.4.3 Training needs identification
3.4.4 Previous training
3.4.5 Ongoing training and development
3.4.6 Delivery of training 20
3.4.7 Funding of essential health and safety training
3.4.8 Training records

3.5 Special Arrangements

Page 21



Page 4 of 21

Section 4 Monitoring and review of the general policy 
statement

4.1 Monitoring of the policy 21
4.2 Review 21

Related Policies and Strategies 21

Page 22



Page 5 of 21

Section 1 Policy Statement

1.1 Scope – Policy Aim

The aim of this Policy is to assist the Council in providing a safe and healthy workplace 
and working environment for all its employees, and to protect all other persons who may 
be affected by their work activity.

The Policy provides the framework by which the management of health and safety within 
the Council will be carried out, including the necessary arrangements and organisation. 

Good communication and competence at all levels throughout the organisations will be 
essential to the success of the Policy.

1.2 Policy Consultation and Consideration
This policy was taken through the Council’s Joint H & S Steering Group & Health and Safety 
Committee which exist to ensure effective communication, monitoring of performance and 
consultation in matters involving the health, safety and welfare of all those affected by the work of 
the District Council.

1.3 General Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement

The Council, as a corporate body and employer, is committed to meeting its legal 
responsibilities to safeguard the health, safety and welfare of their employees, and non-
employees, who may be affected by the Council’s work activities.

We consider health and safety to be an integral part of what we do and will pursue 
continual improvement in performance through the setting of objectives and targets.

To enable the Council to carry out their responsibilities it will, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, take steps to:

 comply with and where possible exceed statutory requirements;
 ensure a sensible approach to risk management, giving focus and attention to the 

assessment and control of significant risks that arise as a result of our activities;
 provide a safe and healthy working environment (which includes access, egress and 

adequate welfare facilities);
 ensure safe working methods and provide safe, suitable and sufficient equipment;
 develop and maintain a positive Health and Safety culture with an emphasis on 

improvement, through communication and consultation with our employees and their 
trade union representatives;

 work with our partner organisations to ensure consistent health and safety standards 
are maintained;

 ensure that only competent contractors and sub-contractors are engaged and are 
regularly controlled and monitored;

 prevent or reduce the number of accidents and work related ill health;
 to provide suitable and sufficient information, instruction, training and supervision to 

enable all employees to avoid hazards and contribute positively to their own health 
and safety at work;

Page 23



Page 6 of 21

 ensure adequate resources are made available to fulfil the Council’s health and 
safety responsibilities;

 ensure adequate procedures are in place for contractors and others where we have a 
duty of care are fully compliant with this policy and the health and safety legislation;

 ensure that arrangements detailed within the health and safety management system 
are monitored and reviewed at appropriate intervals to ensure it remains effective.

The Council will co-operate fully in the appointment of safety representatives by 
recognised trade unions and will comply with the requirements of the Safety 
Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977, Approved Code of Practice 
and Guidance. The Council will consult with employees safety representatives directly and 
via the Health and Safety Group.

The main responsibility for health and safety lies with the Chief Executive, the leader of the 
Council and the Executive Management team, but in order for this policy to be successful, 
it is the personal responsibility of each employee, elected member, contractor, volunteer 
and agency staff member to:

 take reasonable care in carrying out their activities to minimise the risk to their own 
health, safety and welfare and that of their colleagues or others who may be affected 
by their actions;

 co-operate with management and colleagues in the carrying out of their duties to 
establish safe systems of work;

 bring to the attention of their line manager any hazards, dangerous practices, 
accidents or incidents of which they become aware.

The Chief Executive, Leader of the Council, Executive Management team and Shared 
Managers support this policy and encourage everyone to take a positive and constructive 
approach to health and safety and welcome all suggestions and recommendations that 
might lead to a safer workplace, improved work practices and a reduction in sickness 
absence.

The allocation for safety matters and the particular arrangements that we will make to 
implement the policy set out within this document. 

The policy will be kept up to date, particularly as the organisation changes in nature and 
size, and will be supplemented by further procedures relating to work activities. To ensure 
this, our policy and the way it is operated will be reviewed every two years. 

Signed Date: ???
Anna Graves
Chief Executive

Signed Date: ???

Councillor Gary Porter
Leader of SHDC

Page 24



Page 7 of 21

Signed Date: ??

Mr Phil Adams
Executive Management team member responsible for Health and Safety

Unison Health & Safety Representative Date: ??

UCATT Health & Safety Representative Date:

Page 25



Page 8 of 21

Section 2 Management Control and Organisation

2.1 Individual Responsibilities

All Council employees have a legal responsibility to meet the statutory requirements 
of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974. At all levels of the organisation, our 
people will be:

 responsible for the safety and wellbeing of themselves, those people they 
manage and the people they work for;

 aware of their responsibility for health and safety issues and their effects on 
people within the activities they control; and

 aware of the influence that their action or inaction can have on the 
effectiveness of our safety management and performance.

The Chief Executive has ultimate responsibility for ensuring the Council fulfils its 
legal responsibility, that the policy’s objectives are achieved and that effective 
management is in place to secure its implementation and review as appropriate. 

          The Chief Executive delegates the overall implementation of the policy to the 
Corporate Management team and the authority for the day to day administration of 
the policy to shared service managers for all other levels of employees.

The Executive Manager member responsible for Health and Safety has a critical 
role in providing strategic direction and support to ensure health and safety risks are 
properly managed.

Line managers and supervisors have direct responsibility for activities and 
employees under their control.  All employees have a legal and moral responsibility 
to take reasonable care for the health and safety of themselves and other people 
who may be affected by their acts or omissions.

2.2 Specific Responsibilities

2.2.1 Full Council

Are responsible for:
 the conduct of the Council’s undertakings to ensure the health, safety and 

welfare, of the Council’s employees, the public and other persons who may 
be affected by its activities;

 ensuring there are adequate resources available to meet the requirements of 
the Corporate Health and Safety Policy; 

 demonstrating their support for sensible health and safety;
 working closely with the Chief Executive to jointly promote a positive culture 

around health and safety within the Council and its employees;
 ensuring that adequate resources are allocated when setting budgets to 

secure the health and safety of the workforce and others who may be 
affected.

Page 26



Page 9 of 21

Portfolio Holders:
 should seek to demonstrate health and safety leadership within their 

departments
 they should be aware of the significant risks within their area of responsibility 

and the measures in place to reduce risks
 should know who to approach for competent health and safety advice.

2.2.2 Chief Executive 

Has overall responsibility for the effective implementation of the Council’s Health 
and Safety Policy.

Specifically they are responsible for:

 making Full Council aware of significant health and safety issues, 
immediately when necessary.

2.2.3 Executive Management Team (EMT)

Are responsible for:
 supporting the Chief Executive in meeting their additional health and safety 

responsibilities;
 finding corporate solutions to health and safety issues;
 identifying and allocating resources where this is not either the responsibility 

of a specific Executive Management  team member, Shared Manager, 
Service Manager or where adequate resources are not available within a 
nominated budget;

 agreeing the health and safety strategy and the annual Corporate Health and 
Safety Plan;

 ensuring decisions and actions recognise the aims of the Corporate Health 
and Safety Policy. 

 implementing the Corporate Health and Safety Policy within the Directorate 
of their control, ensuring that adequate safety management systems are in 
place at all levels within their Directorate so as to provide the Council with the 
assurance that all parts of the organisation is adequately meeting its legal 
obligations;

 establishing structures and strategies to implement policy and integrating 
these into service activities;

 making sure to fully consider the resources needed across their directorate 
for putting an effective health and safety management system into practice;

 receiving the 6 monthly Health & Safety Report & 3 monthly updates.

Page 27



Page 10 of 21

2.2.4 Executive management team member responsible for Health and Safety

The Executive Management team member responsible for Health and Safety will:
 provide strategic direction for ensuring the effectiveness if the Authority’s 

health and safety organisation and arrangements;
 inform, and alert EMT to, health and safety matters of evident concern and 

initiatives that have or may have an impact on the health and safety of 
employees, contractors or the public;

 liaise on a regular basis with the Health & Safety Team;
 report to the Shared Executive Director of Strategy and Governance, any 

significant matters of Health and Safety that have the potential to impact on 
the Council and its undertakings;

 champion Health and Safety within the Council;
 assist with securing corporate budget for key H & S initiatives; 
 being the sponsor of the 6 monthly review of health and safety performance;
 update EMT on a regular basis actions from the Joint Strategic Corporate 

Health & Safety group;
 chair the Joint Strategic H & S Group;
 chair the councils Health & Safety Group.

2.2.5 Section 151 Officer

Will be responsible for:
 identifying and allocating budgetary resources where this is not either the 

responsibility of a specific Executive Management team member, Shared 
Manager or where adequate resources are not available within a nominated 
budget.

 ensuring that the requirements of health and safety legislation, e.g. Construction 
(Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM2015) are complied with as 
they apply to the Council’s activities.

2.2.6 Shared Executive Director Place

In addition to 2.2.8 below the shared managers responsible for Council Assets will 
have responsibility for all, assets owned or managed by the council where they 
have not been passed to the responsibility of a local manager, and will:
 take responsibility for health and safety matters in connection with all aspects of 

the maintenance and investment service and to actively promote risk 
management in their own services areas;

 include in all tender documents suitable provision for health and safety and co-
ordinate the safety activities of contractors and subcontractors;

 hold the budget for repair and maintenance of the Council’s Corporate assets in 
their control and is responsible for ensuring that repair or maintenance work 
necessary to address health and safety issues are carried out;

 take responsibility for maintaining the Council’s Asset Management Plan / 
Strategy;

 make sure that full fire risk assessments are carried out on Corporate assets by 
suitably qualified persons and that they are maintained and kept current;

Page 28



Page 11 of 21

 make sure that all fire evacuation drills and tests are carried out in accordance 
with the relevant statutory requirements;

 work with local managers, responsible for assets to make sure that all assets 
(land and property) are inspected, maintained and managed in accordance with 
statutory legislation and in a manner that protects the health and safety of the 
occupants or others that may be affected by them. This will include but is not 
limited to maintenance of asbestos, electrical equipment, water services and 
lifting equipment with the appropriate records managed and kept up to date.

2.2.7 All other Shared Managers

Have responsibility for health and safety within their Services. In particular, they 
must ensure that:
 the Council's health and safety policy & procedures are implemented within their 

areas of responsibility;
 effective service and place specific procedures are developed and implemented 

where necessary, including clearly defined responsibilities for all levels of staff, 
systems for assessing and controlling risks and for monitoring health and safety 
performance, and signed off through the Joint Strategic Health & Safety Group;

  a positive health and safety culture is actively demonstrated and promoted 
within their areas of responsibility including a commitment to continuous 
improvement;

 include in all tender documents suitable provision for health and safety and co-
ordinate the safety activities of contractors and subcontractors;

 corporate health and safety policies and procedures are implemented within 
their areas of responsibility and where specific service risks arise service 
procedures are developed and implemented that complement corporate 
strategic direction, and signed off through the Joint Strategic Health & Safety 
Group;

 they and their management team understand and are competent, through 
recruitment, training or otherwise, to carry out their duties for health, safety and 
welfare;

 hold the budget for repair and maintenance of the Council’s Corporate assets in 
their control and is responsible for ensuring that repair or maintenance work 
necessary to address health and safety issues are carried out;

 adequate budgetary provision is made to meet the cost of fulfilling the service’s 
responsibilities in relation to health, safety and welfare;

 adequate time and resources are given to managers and employees to fulfil their 
roles as defined by this policy & procedures;

 there are adequate and effective arrangements in place for consulting all 
employees and their representative trade unions within their areas of 
responsibility on matters that affect their health and safety;

 they have systems in place for monitoring health and safety within their areas of 
responsibility, including setting targets for improvement and reviewing 
performance;

 where their Services work with partnership organisations, ensure that suitable 
health and safety arrangements are established and monitored in partnership 
activities and through the corporate health & safety group.

Page 29



Page 12 of 21

2.2.8 Managers (including Team Leaders and Supervisors) 

Managers are responsible for ensuring that the policy & procedures are 
implemented in their areas of responsibility.  Managers will be responsible for all 
employees and activities under their control and will ensure that the requirements of 
relevant safety policies and procedures are complied with. In particular, they will, 
where appropriate:
 ensure that risk assessments are undertaken by persons competent to do so 

and that adequate control measures are taken to minimise the health and safety 
risks to their employees and to any other persons who may be affected by work 
carried out by these employees; and those risk assessments are maintained on 
the corporate Health and Safety systems to allow effective monitoring;

 ensure that safe systems of work are developed and implemented in line with 
the Council’s health and safety management system;

 when commissioning work through partners and contractors ensure that they are 
selected and managed in accordance with statutory and Council health and 
safety requirements;

 include in all tender documents suitable provision for health and safety and co-
ordinate the safety activities of contractors and subcontractors;

 ensure action is taken to resolve any situations that may adversely affect the 
health and safety of employees or other persons. They will rectify any problem 
within their own resources or see it is raised with their line manager without 
delay where they do not have the budgetary or management control to do so;

 ensure effective health and safety monitoring activities are undertaken;
 set a personal example by including health and safety management into daily 

management practice and demonstrating safe personal working practices;
 monitor and review health and safety performance through:

o undertaking health and safety inspections of the relevant work area/practices 
in accordance with relevant policy

o setting health and safety targets and objectives through appraisals and other 
supervisory reviews

 ensure that arrangements are in place to keep themselves and their employees 
up to date with health and safety information provided to them by the 
organisation;

 hold the budget for repair and maintenance of the Council’s Corporate assets in 
their control and is responsible for ensuring that repair or maintenance work 
necessary to address health and safety issues are carried out;

 ensure that all employees under their control are given adequate information, 
instruction, training and supervision to carry out their duties safely, paying 
particular attention to new/inexperienced employees and trainees;

 ensure that all plant, work equipment and personal protective equipment 
provided is selected through a risk assessment process, is suitable, properly 
maintained and all necessary tests and examinations have been carried out;

 ensure that accidents and incidents (including near misses and violence and 
aggression) are properly reported, processed, investigated by competent 
persons and the findings acted upon without delay, plus report these to the 
Corporate Health & Safety advisor;

 ensure that employees and their trade union representatives are consulted on 
matters of health and safety that affect them;

Page 30



Page 13 of 21

 ensure information that may assist safety representatives in their role is provided 
to them as necessary;

 work with local Managers responsible for assets to ensure premises issues 
affecting their employees are adequately managed and communicated;

 attend training provided to them that is relevant to their role;
 ensure that competent health and safety advice is sought where required;
 arranging suitable and sufficient health & safety training as  identified, to equip  

their team leaders/supervisors and staff with necessary knowledge, information 
and competence, plus update the corporate Health & Safety management 
system.

2.2.9 Health & Safety Team

The Health & Safety Team will:
 provide professional support, technical and other guidance to the Council, , 

EMT, Shared Managers, Managers and members of staff on matters of health & 
safety risk assessments and audits;

 raise awareness of health & safety at work with all employees, members and 
partners of the Council;

 prepare reports to the Joint Strategic Corporate H & S Group, Health & Safety 
Group and EMT on health and safety performance, making recommendations 
for improving performance as necessary. An annual report will be produced 
each April for EMT and will include an overview of the policy, the performance of 
each service and details of accidents, statistics and inspections carried out that 
year;

 draft guidance and develop corporate health and safety procedures in line with 
current legislation and best practice;

 interpret new legislation, audits and report findings to health and safety 
committee;

 liaise with relevant enforcing bodies e.g. HSE, Fire Authorities;
 maintain corporate accident / incident records;
 review accident and incident data to identify trends and any appropriate 

remedial action as necessary;
 actively participate in Health & Safety Action Plans, meetings and the setting of 

realistic targets to maintain progress and continued standards of compliance 
with relevant statutory provisions;

 delivering or arranging suitable and sufficient health & safety training as 
identified , to equip senior managers, team leaders/supervisors and staff with 
necessary knowledge, information and competence, plus to maintain the 
corporate management system;

 maintain the list of First Aiders and Fire Marshalls, plus ensure that the Council 
has sufficient numbers to perform their duties in accordance with national 
guidance;

 that all first Aid boxes are sufficiently stocked and maintained.

2.2.10 Fire Marshalls 

The Fire Marshalls will take control in the event of a fire or emergency evacuation 
and will:

 attend necessary training;

Page 31



Page 14 of 21

 in the event of an evacuation ensure their dedicated area is clear;
 carry out fire inspection checks as deemed appropriate.

2.2.11 First Aiders

First Aiders will:
 provide first aid treatment in accordance with the first aid at work regulations;
 ensure their first aid box is adequately stocked; 
 advise Human Resources or the Health and Safety Team of any changes 

that may affect their ability to continue with their duties;
 assist with the completion of accident forms and follow up investigations and 

actions as appropriate, for any incident they are involved in.

2.2.12 Each Employee 

All Employees have individual responsibility to take reasonable care for the health 
and safety of themselves and for those other persons who may be affected by their 
acts or omissions. In particular, employees must:

 comply with the Council's Health and Safety Policy and procedures at all times 
and make themselves familiar with the Health & Safety information on the 
Council’s Intranet;

 co-operate with their management in complying with relevant health and safety 
safe systems of work and procedures;

 participate in emergency arrangement training including fire evacuation and 
familiarising themselves with emergency arrangements at the premises in which 
they carry out their work;

 use all work equipment and substances in accordance with the instruction and 
training received;

 wear, use, store, and maintain personal protective equipment as provided to 
them and required by their manager. To notify their line manager when PPE 
needs replacing;

 not intentionally misuse anything provided in the interests of health, safety and 
welfare e.g. fire fighting equipment;

 take part in and contribute to health and safety inspections, risk assessments etc 
as appropriate;

 report all accidents (personal injury and vehicle), ill-health, incidents of violence 
and aggression, near misses, hazardous situations, general health and safety 
concerns, defective equipment or premises in line with departmental procedures;

 attend or take part in training provided relevant to their role;
 carryout all mandatory training as requested by the Council health & Safety team 

within clear timeframes.
 if working on behalf of the Council on premises other than those controlled by 

the Council, comply with health and safety arrangements at those premises;
 ensure that when driving while at work that they are fit to do so and drive in a 

safe and proper manner.

2.2.13 Occupational Health 

The Council retains the services of Occupational Health organisations.  Their 
responsibility extends to providing advice, when requested, on all matters relating to 

Page 32



Page 15 of 21

occupational health.  It will, when requested, carry out medical assessments as part 
of any medical surveillance required by health and safety legislation.

2.2.14 Non-Council Employees’ Responsibilities

 Contractors or other such persons

Only competent contractors or other such persons will be permitted to 
undertake services for the Council.

The Council needs to ensure that contractors or other such persons they 
engage have the skills, knowledge and competency to carry out the service 
to the required standards without risks to health and safety. The contractor 
selection and monitoring procedure should be followed this requires a health 
and safety competency assessment form completed by the contractor (or 
other such person) and associated documentation supplied. An assessment 
as to the contractor’s competency to carry out work on behalf of the Council 
will be made and a record kept. All documents provided by the contractor will 
be retained as evidence.

Contractors or other such persons will be required to conform to all relevant 
Health and Safety legislation or Council instructions that are applicable and 
to ensure that their employees and sub-contractors also conform.

Any health and safety concerns or issues arising from the health and safety 
competency assessment or monitoring of contractors or other such persons 
will be referred to the Health and Safety Team.

No contractor or other such person shall work for the Council unless the 
Control of Contractors procedures have been adhered to. 

 Manufacturers and Suppliers

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 requires that all plant, 
machinery, equipment, appliances and materials are so designed and 
constructed so as to be safe and without risks to health.

Manufacturers and suppliers must provide adequate operating and/or 
handling instructions and information about any conditions necessary to 
ensure that their products will be safe and without risks to health when 
properly used. This information must be made available to all relevant 
employees.

2.2.15 Trade Union Representatives

The functions available to safety representatives are:

 to investigate potential hazards in the workplace (whether or not they are drawn 
to their attention by the employees they represent), the causes of accidents and 
general complaints by any employee they represent on health, safety or welfare 
issues at the workplace and communicate with the appropriate officer. Make 

Page 33



Page 16 of 21

observations in writing to the Service Manager and the Health and Safety 
Committee;

 invited to carry out inspections of the workplace, both on a planned basis and 
following substantial changes in working conditions, where new hazard 
information has been published by the HSE or where incidents and accidents 
have occurred;

 to inspect and take copies of any document relevant to health and safety 
providing reasonable notice is given to the manager concerned;

 to represent employees in consultations with the managers and to receive 
information from managers;

 to represent the employees they were appointed to represent in consultations 
with the inspectors of the Health and Safety Executive and/or any other 
enforcing authority and to receive information from inspectors;

 to attend meetings of safety committees in the capacity as a Safety 
Representative in connection with any of the above functions; 

 to carry out inspections of the workplace, following notifiable accidents and, if 
relevant to the inspection, see certain documents.

2.2.16 Joint Strategic Corporate Health & Safety  Group

The Joint Steering Group will be responsible for ensuring effective communication, 
monitoring of performance and consultation in matters involving the health, safety 
and welfare of all those affected by the work of the District Council. The group will:

 report to EMT on a six monthly basis and update them on Policy, procedures, 
incidents, action plans and training;

 review, monitor and provide a programme of training for staff, members and 
contractors;

 recommend changes to the Council’s Health & Safety Policy and Procedures 
and to ensure compliance;

 ensure and advise on the Council’s compliance with Health & Safety legislation 
and monitor any changes within this sector;

 receive and review reports regarding health and safety accidents and incidents 
(near misses);

 monitor performance, having regard to underlying trends and review progress on 
improving safety performance and safety culture;

 consider health & safety issues that may have strategic, business and 
reputational implications for the Council’s and recommend appropriate 
measures, responses and targets;

 carry out annual inspections of Council premises and associated buildings and 
receive reports on other assets of the Council

2.2.17 Health and Safety Group

The Health and Safety Group exists to ensure effective communication, monitoring 
of performance and consultation in matters involving the health, safety and welfare 
of all those affected by the work of the District Council.  
The Group will:
 consider and advise on Council policies or procedure for health, safety and 

welfare, both statutory and otherwise and monitor and review their effectiveness;

Page 34



Page 17 of 21

 consider and approve amendments or additions to the Council’s H & S Policies, 
procedures or Safety Guidance;

 review forthcoming legislation and assess its implications and where necessary 
to recommend the establishment of rules governing any hazardous work activity 
or operations; 

 promote and monitor the adequacy of health and safety training in the Council at 
all levels, also the communication and publicity and initiate actions to maintain a 
high standard;

 consider, and take action as appropriate on, reports from Trade Union health 
and safety representatives;

 receive detailed reports of investigations into all reportable accidents, dangerous 
occurrences and cases of reportable diseases to consider the effectiveness of 
any action taken to prevent future similar accidents;

 receive statistical data of all other recorded accidents or occurrences and to 
consider the effectiveness of any remedial action taken to prevent future similar 
incidents;

 consider reports of formal audits of Council work places and / or activities and 
such other reports may be submitted;

 request formal inspections of work places as the Committee think appropriate 
and to receive reports of such inspections;

 consider reports and factual information provided by inspectors of the HSE 
under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, or any other relevant 
enforcement authority and to establish and maintain effective links with such 
persons;

 consider relevant health, safety and welfare matters raised by members of the 
Group and Council staff; 

 consider the activities of Union Safety Representatives as required by the 
relevant legislation.

Page 35



Page 18 of 21

Section 3 Implementation - Arrangements for Health and 
Safety

3.1 General

The following arrangements supplement the policy but are not intended to be 
exhaustive. They are supported with separate, additional procedures / guidance. 
Constant observance of this policy, adherence to rules and maintenance of good 
practices and procedures / guidance will prevent personal suffering and injury and 
in some cases, property and equipment damage.  

Performance against these various systems will be monitored by the Health and 
Safety Group with the assistance of the Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety 
Group.  
All risk assessments will be reviewed annually in light of safety performance 
monitoring results and changes in the work carried out. Amendments will be brought 
to the attention of those employees to whom they apply.

3.2 Communication, co-operation and consultation

No safety policy or procedure is likely to be successful unless it actively involves all 
employees. It also helps in motivating staff and making them aware of health and 
safety issues.

Employees will be consulted on health and safety matters either communicating 
directly through line management at team meetings, team briefings, formal training 
or directly by Trade Union Safety Representatives.

Safety representatives appointed by the recognised trade unions have an important 
role in consulting and communicating with staff on health, safety and welfare related 
issues. Therefore it is to be accepted by the Elected Members, the Chief Executive, 
EMT, the Shared Managers and team leaders that the Council will provide safety 
representatives, with reasonable facilities, assistance, attendance at TUC, union 
specific training and any other council delivered training appropriate for the purpose 
of carrying out their functions as defined by the Safety Representatives and Safety 
Committees Regulations 1977. None of these functions undertaken by Safety 
Representatives are imposed upon them by the Council; however, reasonable time 
off without loss of earnings will be given whilst undertaking health and safety 
functions.

3.3 Co-operation with Regulatory Authorities

Any contact, including correspondence from any regulatory authority, in particular, 
the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), the Fire Authority and the Environment 
Agency must be notified to the Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety Group 
by the quickest possible means. The Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety 
Group will provide those services with appropriate support and advice.

Page 36



Page 19 of 21

3.4 Information, instruction and training

3.4.1 General

All employees regardless of position, length of service or role will be provided with 
appropriate health and safety training. Providing all employees with suitable and 
sufficient health and safety information, instruction and training is vital to ensuring 
that:

 daily working activities are carried out safely;
 health and safety responsibilities are understood and performed satisfactorily; 
 individual’s are aware of the hazards present in their day-to-day working 

environment.

Information, instruction and training does not always require attendance on formal 
training courses. In many instances verbal or written instruction may be sufficient, 
for example:

 briefings on risk assessments findings including controls identified;
 walking a new employee through their office escape route;
 job shadowing / observing an experienced member of staff;
 providing detailed, step by step instructions (i.e. Safe Working Practice), on how 

to perform a particular task.

3.4.2 Induction

All new starters will receive relevant Health & Safety information from their line 
manager or supervisor on arrival.
Within their first month they must complete the e-learning module on Health & 
Safety Induction.
Within their first three months they must attend the formal Health and Safety 
induction. As well as providing necessary information, instruction and training, it also 
provides an opportunity from the outset to demonstrate a positive health and safety 
culture that each individual is expected to help maintain. 

3.4.3 Training needs identification

Training needs will be determined by a number of mechanisms, including 
assessment of the individual job role and activities expected to be undertaken, risk 
assessment controls, as a mandatory requirement of the job, appraisals, or in some 
circumstances as part of professional or self-improvement.

3.4.4 Previous training

Existing competencies such as attendance on accredited training and recognised 
courses are reviewed and taken into consideration as part of training needs 
analysis, however, where training is required to familiarise an employee with 
specific systems of work additional training will be provided.

3.4.5 Ongoing training and development

Page 37



Page 20 of 21

Employees are provided with necessary information, instruction and training 
throughout their employment. 

Examples of when further training may be required include:

 e-learning modules;
 where refresher dates are formally specified as is the case for first aid training;
 following changes in equipment and / or working practices, an accident and any 

introduction of new hazards into the workplace (e.g. machinery, substances etc);
 periodic refresher training e.g. where aspects of training may be forgotten, or 

skills diminish over time – particularly where the training is not regularly used 
e.g. Fire Marshal, Evacuation Chair;

 where the line manager or the employee identifies additional training that would 
be beneficial e.g. during work reviews, appraisals or after difficulties in carrying 
out work safely;

 where staff are observed not to be working safely;
 where safety roles are not being performed satisfactorily e.g. a premises 

manager not ensuring hazards in their workplace are being adequately 
managed;

 an identified requirement through the appraisal process.

3.4.6 Delivery of training

Formal training may be delivered through the following mechanisms:

 the Health & Safety team;
 e-learning modules;
 shared managers, line managers / team leaders / supervisors;
 in-house courses delivered by external training providers;
 external courses.

3.4.7 Funding of essential health and safety training

It is recognised that the funding of essential health and safety training and 
instruction as is deemed necessary is an essential element of the health and safety 
management system. Further advice can be obtained from the Joint Strategic 
Corporate Health and Safety Group.

3.4.8 Training records

Training records are to be kept by the Human Resources team and the Health and 
Safety team and it is the responsibility of the relevant Line Manager to make sure 
that Human Resources are notified of training that has been given.

3.5 Specific Arrangements

The following are covered by specific Policies and/or Procedures which can be 
found on the Council’s intranet.

 Risk Assessment Procedure

Page 38



Page 21 of 21

 Fire Procedure
 Manual Handling Procedure
 Display Screen Equipment Procedure
 Hazardous Substances 
 Young Persons
 New or Expectant Mothers
 Accident, near miss and investigation Procedure
 Asbestos Management Policy
 Control of Legionella in Water Systems Procedure
 CDM and Contractor Management Procedure
 Driving for work Procedure
 Electrical Safety Procedure
 Equipment Procedure
 First Aid Procedure
 Housekeeping Procedure
 Lone Workers Procedure
 Noise Procedure
 Protective Clothing and Equipment Procedure
 Smoking (including-Cigarettes) Procedure
 Vibration Procedure
 Violence at Work Procedure

Section 4 Monitoring and review of the general policy 
statement

4.1 Monitoring of the policy

The monitoring of this Policy will be carried out by the Joint Strategic Corporate 
Health and Safety Group, actively through health and safety auditing and reactively 
by the investigation of incidents and collation of accident, near miss, violent incident 
and ill health statistics produced and reported on a regular basis. It is anticipated 
that appointed Trade Union Health and Safety Representatives will also assist by 
the carrying out of inspections of the workplace.

4.2 Review

This safety policy will be reviewed every 2 years, and when agreed, added to or 
modified as necessary within that period.

Section 5 Related Policies and Procedures

Information about related policies and procedures can be found on the Council’s Intranet.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager Governance – Mark Stinson

To: Strategy Board – 12 September 2017
Policy Development Panel – 3 October 2017
Cabinet – 21 November 2017

(Author: Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy – Legal Services Manager)

Subject Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer Behaviour and Vexatious 
Requests

Purpose: To consider the draft Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent 
Complaints and Customer Behaviour and Vexatious Requests

Recommendation(s): 

That the proposed Policy at Appendix A be approved

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council does not currently have a policy or a procedure to deal with unreasonable 
customer behaviour and complaints and vexatious requests. Very often an historic 
complainer will also make frequent FOI requests as part of the complaint. 

1.2 The Policy deals with unreasonable customer behaviour generally, unreasonable customer 
complaints relating for example to service issues or standards complaints about elected 
members and finally it covers vexatious requests. 

1.3 The purpose of the document is to define unreasonable customer behaviour, explain what 
we consider to be unreasonable customer behaviour and how we will deal with it, define 
vexatious requests and explain what we consider to be a vexatious request and how we will 
deal with these.   

1.4 Both the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and Information Commissioner 
have issued guidance on dealing with matters contained in this Policy and this Policy 
incorporates that guidance.   There is no statutory duty to respond to complaints but there 
is a statutory duty to respond to requests for information under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 and Environment Information Regulations. However there is also provision to 
refuse a request under Section 14(1) Freedom of Information Act 2000 by considering it a 
vexatious request. 

1.5 A flowchart will be prepared to support the Policy once it has been approved.

1.6 Only a small handful of complainants would come within this proposed policy.

Page 41

Agenda Item 10.



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To approve the draft Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and 
Customer Behaviour and Vexatious Requests

2.2 To approve the draft Policy subject to amendments

2.3 Not to adopt a policy and procedures. This option is not recommended as such issues will 
have to be dealt with in an ad-hoc manner.

3.0  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The Local Government Ombudsman and Social Care Ombudsman recommends having a 
policy to ensure that complaints and customers are dealt with in an open, fair and 
proportionate way.  Having a policy will help officers to understand clearly what is expected 
of them, what options for action are available and who can authorise these actions. It can 
also be shared with customers and help manage their expectations and explains that 
certain behaviours should not be tolerated.

3.2 We must always bear in mind our underlying commitment to transparency and openness.   
The guidance recommends that a customer should be given an opportunity to moderate 
their behaviour and in particular with persistent complaints any actions should be 
proportionate to the nature and frequency of the complainant’s current contacts. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Policy will reduce the officer time in dealing with unreasonable customers and 
vexatious requests.

4.2 It will give officers the peace of mind that action can be taken to tackle unreasonable 
behaviour. 

4.3 It will provide clarity and consistency in dealing with such customers/requests for 
information. 

4.4 Finally, it will assist in defending any complaints made to the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman and the Information Commissioner.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 None

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 The adoption of the Policy is deemed to be best practice and will assist in complying with 
statutory requirements. The policy has been drafted to take into account government 
guidance.

Page 42



5.2.2 The Policy does not form part of the Council’s policy framework and is therefore an 
executive function.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 None.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 To provide the right services, at the right time, and in the right way.

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended by the Police and Justice 
Act 2006) provides that “….it shall be the duty of each authority …to exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and 
the need to do all it reasonably can to prevent, crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour 
adversely affecting the environment, and substance misuse in its area”.

5.5.2 The policy seeks to address and contain behaviour adversely affecting Council services 
and/or council officers which have the potential to escalate into criminal behaviour such as 
anti-social behaviour or behaviour deemed as “harassment”. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 The Policy reinforces the Council’s commitment to providing services that are accessible, 
inclusive and meet the needs of the community.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from the Policy.  If the Policy is 
successfully applied it should reduce officer time in dealing with unreasonable behaviour.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 None.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 The Policy will benefit the Council’s reputation by providing a framework, and transparency, 
in how complaints and information requests are dealt with. 

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 Having a Policy which complies with best practice and the recommendations of the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman/Information Commissioner reduces the risk of 
subsequent challenge where we may determine that behaviour is unreasonable or 
vexatious.

Page 43



5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 None.

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 None.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 None.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 None.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The Policy will be applicable across the whole district.

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 FOI – freedom of information

Background papers:- NoneTo propose a revised Health and Safety Policy and to recommend 
its formal adoption and implementation 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy – Legal Services Manager
Telephone Number 01362 656219
Email: sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a mix of Mandatory and Discretionary Services 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer 

Behaviour and Vexatious Requests

Page 44



1

APPENDIX A

POLICY FOR DEALING WITH UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS AND CUSTOMER 
BEHAVIOUR AND VEXATIOUS REQUESTS

1. Introduction

This policy sets out our approach to the relatively few customers whose actions or behaviour we 
consider to be unacceptable. We aim to deal fairly, honestly, consistently and appropriately with all 
complainants and requests for information but we retain the right to restrict or change access to our 
services where we consider a customer’s actions to be unacceptable. Our aim in doing this is to 
ensure that other customers and our staff do not suffer any disadvantage from customers who act in 
an unacceptable manner. 

This policy is consistent with anyone’s rights under the Data Protection Act 1998, Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and Environmental Information Regulations.

2. Purpose

The purpose of the document is to

 Define unreasonable customer behaviour
 Explain what we consider to be unreasonable customer behaviour and how we will deal with it
 Define vexatious requests
 Explain what we consider to be a vexatious request and how we will deal with these.

This policy helps members, staff and partners to understand what options for action are available, 
and who can authorise these actions. It also assists staff to manage the expectations and behaviour 
of complainants while their complaint is addressed and when we can refuse a request for information. 

The objectives of the policy are to:

 Ensure that the objectives and requirements of this Policy are understood
 Promote problem solving and avoid apportioning blame. The emphasis should be on finding a 

solution
 Satisfy those who complain or comment that they have been dealt with promptly, fairly, openly 

and honestly
 Resolve complaints quickly and as close to the point of service delivery as acceptable and 

appropriate
 Protect members, staff and partners from abusive and unacceptable behaviour from 

customers
 Protect members, staff and partners from unreasonable, aggressive or violent behaviour by 

customers
 Ensure staff and customers understand how we can deal with vexatious requests for 

information

This policy should be read in conjunction with any other relevant Council policies relating to exclusion 
of services and employee health and safety.

Page 45



2

The Council welcomes feedback from service users and will always try to resolve any complaint or 
request for information as quickly as possible and therefore this policy should only be applied where 
absolutely necessary.

With each complaint we must consider whether it is persistent, unreasonably persistent or a new 
complaint. With each request for information we must consider whether it is manifestly unjustified, 
inappropriate or improper use of formal procedure.  

This policy covers behaviour associated with customer complaints, complaints about the standards of 
our elected members, requests for information and general customer contact. 

We need to differentiate between those customers whose concerns relate to a series of service 
failures and those customers whose behaviour is unreasonable. 

Customers can be frustrated and aggrieved and it is therefore important to consider the substance of 
the complaint. However, sometimes customers pursuing complaints or other issues treat members, 
staff and our partners in a way that is unacceptable.

Whilst some complaints may relate to serious and distressing incidents, the Council does not tolerate 
abusive, offensive or threatening behaviour and will take steps to protect staff who are subject to 
unreasonable behaviour.

Section 1 - UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS AND  CUSTOMER BEHAVIOUR

3. Definition of unreasonable behaviour

Customers may act out of character when under stress and we do not view behaviour as 
unacceptable just because a customer is forceful or determined. However, the actions of customers 
who are angry, demanding or persistent may result in unreasonable demands on workloads and 
behaviour towards staff.

Unreasonable behaviour may include one or two isolated incidents, as well as unreasonably 
persistent behaviour, which is usually an accumulation of incidents or behaviour over a longer period.

We differentiate between ‘persistent’ customers and ‘unreasonably persistent’ customers.

Customers making a complaint can be ‘persistent’ where they feel we have not dealt with their 
complaint properly and are not prepared to leave the matter there.  For example, it is not 
unreasonable for a customer to criticise how their complaint is being handled when our published 
procedures are not followed.

However, some customers may have justified complaints or requests but may pursue them in 
inappropriate ways such as lengthy phone calls, emails expecting immediate responses, detailed 
letters or emails every few days.  Others may pursue complaints or requests which have no 
substance or which have already been considered and dealt with.  Their contacts with us may be 
amicable but still place very heavy demands on staff.

Page 46



3

These are some of the actions and behaviours of unreasonably persistent customers which the 
Council’s departments often find problematic. It is by no means an exhaustive list, but they are 
examples that frequently come to our attention:

 Refusing to specify the grounds of a complaint, despite offers of assistance
 Refusing to co-operate with the complaints investigation process 
 Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope of a complaints process
 Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible with the adopted 

complaints procedure or within good practice
 Making unjustified complaints about the staff dealing with the complaints, and seeking to have 

them replaced
 Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or denying statements 

they have made at an earlier stage. 
 Introducing new information, at a late stage, which the customer expects to be taken into 

account and commented on, or raising large numbers of detailed, but unimportant, questions 
and insisting they are all fully answered

 Covertly recording meetings and conversations
 Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others
 Bringing complaints designed to cause disruption or annoyance or lacking any serious 

purpose or value
 Adopting a 'scattergun' approach: pursuing parallel complaints on the same issue with a 

variety of organisations.
 Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff and members with lengthy 

and/or repeated telephone calls, emails to numerous Council officers, or detailed letters every 
few days and expecting immediate responses

 Causing distress to staff – including use of hostile, abusive or offensive language or an 
unreasonable fixation on an individual member of staff

 Submitting repeat complaints, with minor additions/variations, and insisting that these make 
‘new‘ complaints

 Refusing to accept the outcome decision of a complaint – repeatedly arguing the point and 
complaining about the decision, with no new evidence

 Insisting on pursuing unjustified complaints and/or unrealistic outcomes to legitimate 
complaints. Taking actions that are out of proportion to the nature of the complaint, even 
when the complaints procedure has been exhausted

 Behaviour which has a significant and disproportionate adverse effect on the Council’s 
resources and other residents

 Inappropriate behaviour towards Council staff investigating or involved in the complaint such 
as inappropriate use of language, aggression or violence

 Persistently approaching the Council through different routes about the same issue. 
 Persistently complaining about elected members without grounds for complaint

Care must be taken not to discard new issues which are significantly different from the original 
issues, however these should be treated as a separate complaint issue.

4. Designating behaviour as unreasonable

It is vital that all attempts are made to maintain effective communication and relationships with 
customers. Prior to taking action under this policy, the investigating officer should ensure that:

 Every reasonable effort has been made to investigate the complaint
 Every reasonable effort has been made to communicate with the customer
 The customer is not now providing any significant new information that might affect the 

Council’s view of the complaint

Page 47



4

a)  Prior warning

When the Council considers that the customer is unreasonably persistent in pursuing complaints or 
otherwise is acting unreasonably a risk assessment will be completed in line with health and safety 
policies and, if it is concluded that the behaviour is unacceptable/unreasonable, the Service Manager 
will write to tell the customer why they find the customer’s behaviour unreasonable and/or 
unacceptable and ask them to change the behaviour. 

b)   Decision to restrict or terminate contact with the Council

If unreasonable behaviour continues, the Place Manager will review the case

When making decisions on how to manage the unreasonably persistent customer or unreasonable 
behaviour of a complainant, all relevant factors should be taken into account to ensure that action 
taken is appropriate and proportionate to the nature and frequency of the customer’s contacts with 
the authority at that time.

Due consideration should be given to the customer’s health, including any related illnesses or 
disabilities that may be impacting on behaviour (for example, dementia, learning disability, mental 
illnesses etc).

If the customer has not responded appropriately to the prior warning letter a decision may be made to 
restrict contact with the Council. The customer will be notified in writing (or alternative formats 
appropriate to the individual) why it is believed their behaviour falls into the category of unreasonably 
persistent and/or unreasonable behaviour. 

The customer will be notified what action will be taken and the duration of that action, as well as what 
the customer can do to have the decision reviewed.

The following is a list of possible options for managing a customer’s involvement with the Council 
from which one or more might be chosen and applied, if warranted. Any action taken should be 
appropriate and proportionate. It is not an exhaustive list and often the specific circumstances of the 
individual case will be relevant in deciding what might be appropriate action:

 Placing limits on the number and duration of contacts with staff per week or month
 Offering a restricted timeslot for necessary calls
 Limiting the customer to one medium of contact (telephone, letter, email etc) 
 Requiring the customer to communicate only with one named member of staff
 Requiring any personal contact to take place in the presence of a witness and in a suitable 

location
 Refuse to register further complaints about the same matter 
 Where a customer’s behaviour is unreasonable and threatens the safety and/or welfare of 

members, staff, or our partners the Council may decide to terminate contact with the 
customer

 Other action may be taken, for example reporting the matter to the police or taking legal 
action. Where such action is necessary the Council need not give prior warning

Where a decision on the complaint has been made, the customer can be informed that future 
correspondence will be read and placed on the file but not acknowledged, unless it contains material 
new information.  A designated officer who will read future correspondence should be identified.

Page 48



5

Where following restriction of access being implemented a customer continues to behave in a way 
that is unacceptable or where the behaviour is so extreme that it threatens the immediate safety and 
welfare of members, staff or our partners, the Council may:

1. Terminate contact
2. Temporarily or permanently restrict/not allow access to the Council offices
3. Report the matter to the police
4. Take legal action

c)  Reviewing the decision to restrict contact

When imposing a restriction on access there will be a specified review date, usually 6 months 
from the initial decision.  The review will be carried out by an Executive Manager or a Place 
Manager.  Restrictions should be lifted and the relationship returned to normal unless there are 
good grounds to extend the restrictions.

The customer will be informed of the outcome of the review. If the restrictions are to continue, the 
customer should be given the reasons and told when the restrictions will next be reviewed.

d) Referral to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Relationships between organisations and customers sometimes break down badly when complaints 
are under investigation and there is little prospect of achieving a satisfactory outcome.  In such 
circumstances there may be nothing to gain from following through all stages of the Council’s 
Complaints procedure.  In these circumstances, the Ombudsman may, exceptionally, be prepared to 
consider complaints before complaints procedures have been exhausted – if the request is made by 
both sides to the dispute.

A customer who has been treated as behaving unreasonably may make a complaint to the 
Ombudsman about it.  The Ombudsman is unlikely to be critical of the Council’s action if it can show 
that it acted proportionately, reasonably  and in accordance with its adopted policy.

e) Appeals against decisions

Customers must be informed in writing when the Council wishes to apply this policy and given 
information on how to appeal the decision.

The appeal will be heard by an Executive Manager Place Manager who has not previously been 
involved with the case.

The Executive/Place Manager will write to the customer with their decision which will be final.

A customer who is dealt with under this policy will be informed of their right to contact the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman if they feel the Council has not acted correctly in the 
administration of the complaint.

f) New complaints

New complaints from customers who have been subject to this policy will be dealt with on their 
merits. It is recognised that any new complaint may represent a genuine service failure and therefore 
needs to be reviewed objectively regardless of who is bringing the complaints.

Page 49



6

Once the complaint has been considered, a risk assessment will also be carried out based on past 
and current knowledge of the customer’s behaviour and the likelihood of re-occurrence of any 
unacceptable behaviour.

Any decision not to pursue a new complaint must be clearly recorded on the complaints database.

g) Recording actions and contacts with the customer

Any decision to apply this policy must be notified to the Statutory Information Officer and recorded on 
the Council’s complaints database

The Statutory Information Officer will keep adequate records to show:

 When a decision is taken not to apply the policy when a member, member of staff or partner 
asks for this to be done. The relevant individual will be informed of the decision

 When a decision is taken to make an exception to the policy
 When a decision is taken not to put a further complaint from such a customer through the 

complaints procedure for any reason
 When a decision is taken not to respond to further correspondence, the Executive Manager or 

Service Manager will make sure that any further letters, faxes or emails from the customer are 
checked to ensure that any significant new information is picked up and addressed

 Any future contacts with the customer must be recorded

5. Confidentiality

Complaints made to the Council will be treated in confidence.

The Executive Manager or Place Manager will arrange that the details of unreasonably persistent 
complainants and/ or unreasonable customer behaviour is only passed to those Council staff, 
members and partner organisations who need to know in order to implement the policy or to protect 
staff safety. The customer’s details will also be recorded on the Cautionary Contact List.

Confidentiality cannot, however, be guaranteed where a vulnerable person is considered to be at risk 
and safeguarding procedures apply. In these circumstances, the Council may have to share the 
information with other departments within the Council or other external agencies.

Customers who make their complaints public in the media may forfeit their right to anonymity and the 
right to confidentiality.

Section 2 – VEXATIOUS REQUESTS

6.    Definition of Vexatious Behaviour

A vexatious request is:  ‘a request that is likely to cause distress, disruption, and irritation without any 
proper or justified cause’.

A vexatious request may include one or two individual requests for information, or may form part of a 
wider pattern of vexatious behaviour.  For example, if there is a wider dispute or it is the latest in a 
lengthy series of overlapping requests. 

Page 50



7

Examples of vexatious requests are:

 Abusive or aggressive language used by the requester
 Excessive burden is placed on us in dealing with the request
 Targeted correspondence towards one individual against whom they have some personal 

enmity
 Unreasonable persistent requests relating to matters which have already been dealt with
 The request makes completely unsubstantiated accusations against the authority or specific  

individuals
 The requester takes an unreasonably entrenched position, rejecting attempts to assist and 

advice out of hand and shows no willingness to engage with us. 
 The requester makes frequent or overlapping requests
 The requester’s intention and purpose is to deliberately to cause annoyance
 The requester has adopted a “scattergun” approach
 The request relates to a trivial matter and it is not proportionate to deal with the request.
 The requester is abusing their rights of access to information by abusing the legislation to 

vent anger or harass and annoy members, staff or partners
 The information requested affects the individual and has already been resolved by us or by 

independent investigation
 The request is made for the sole purpose of the amusement of the requester.

a) Designation of vexatious and decision to refuse to provide requested information

In some cases it will be obvious to the Council that a request is vexatious, for instance the tone or 
content of the request is so objectionable that it would be unreasonable to expect the Council to 
tolerate it.   In these circumstances we will consider making a decision that we will refuse the request 
under Section 14(1) Freedom of Information Act 2000 (or under the Environmental Information 
Regulations where relevant).

In other cases it will not be so obvious then we will take into account if the request is likely to cause a 
disproportionate or unjustified level of disruption, irritation or distress.  To assess this we will 
objectively judge the evidence of the impact on us and weigh this against any evidence about the 
purpose and value of the request.

However, we will not automatically refuse a request simply because it is made in the context of a 
dispute or if it forms part of a series of requests.  

We will consider each request for information on its own merits and we will not automatically refuse a 
request because the individual may have caused problems in the past.  We will ensure that we 
consider whether the request (and not the requester) is vexatious 

We will consider whether or not a more conciliatory approach will help before issuing a refusal notice.

Where the request is considered to be vexatious we may make the decision not to provide the 
information. We will issue a refusal notice to the requester.

The decision to classify a request as vexatious and to refuse the request will be taken by the 
Executive Manager or Place Manager in consultation with the relevant Service Manager.

Page 51



8

A refusal notice setting out why the Council is refusing the request will be issued by the Statutory 
Information Officer, unless we have already given the requester a refusal notice for a previous 
vexatious request, and it would be unreasonable to issue another one.

b)   Application for Review

A Requester may request a review of the decision to classify a request as vexatious and to issue a 
refusal notice.  Such review will be carried out by an Executive Manager or Place Manager who has 
not previously been involved in the matter.

A requester who has been dealt with under this policy will be informed of their right to contact  the 
Information Commissioner if they feel the Council has not acted correctly in dealing with their 
request.

c) Recording Actions

Any decisions to apply this policy to the request must be notified to the Statutory Information Officer 
and recorded on the Council’s information requests data base. 

7. Responsibility for the procedures

Overall responsibility for the Policy for Dealing with UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS 
AND CUSTOMER BEHAVIOUR AND VEXATIOUS REQUESTS will lie with the Statutory 
Information Group.

The administration of the Policy for Dealing with Unreasonable Customer Behaviour and Vexatious 
Requests lies with the Statutory Information Officer.

Page 52



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of:        Phil Adams, Executive Manager People and Public Protection
    

To: Policy Development Panel, 3 October 2017
South Holland District Council, 1 November 2017

Author: Claire Burton, HR Manager (Spalding)

Subject: Officer Code of Conduct

Purpose: This report presents the update of the Officer Code of Conduct. 

Recommendation

That the Code of Conduct be approved and to implement in line with changes highlighted 
in Section 2.0

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Code of Conduct is a common reference document for all employees that 
defines the minimum standards of conduct that employees are expected to observe 
when carrying out their duties.  It is produced in the light of challenges employees 
face in the current, and more commercially orientated, environment.

1.2 The changes made to the Code of Conduct, which was last refreshed in 2012, have 
been shared with the Staff Forum and Unison representatives and both have agreed 
to provide support in communicating this update. 

2.0 AMENDMENTS MADE TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT

The following table shows the key changes which have been made to each Section. 

Section (number and heading) Key change(s)

Introduction (New) Added how the values and Code of Conduct 
support the performance of the Councils

Scope (New) To say who is and  isn’t in scope

Roles and Responsibilities (New) to provide clarity on who and how should it 
be used

1.0 Employee Standards (Additional 
information)

How the Code of Conduct relates to people 
matters e.g  appraisal, development, 
recruitment, equality and diversity as it 
should drive our daily practices

2.0 Information disclosure (Additional 
information)

Removes references to confidentiality, which 
is now in an additional heading

Page 53

Agenda Item 12.



3.0 Confidentiality (Additional Information) Confidentiality was previously included within 
information disclosure.

4.0 Information security (New) Added to link with ICT security procedures.

6.0  Relationship with Contractors Declaration of Directorships is now required.

8.0 Outside Commitments (Amended) For SHDC previous practice was employees 
over SCP 27 required Director consent to 
take up additional employment. Is now 
Senior Manager approval (or Director if 
Senior Manager request)

10. Personal interests (Amended) Reflects the transfer of the register of 
interests from Democratic Services to HR. 

Requirement to declare membership of 
organisations which has secrecy about rules 
or membership or conduct.

Declaration Form for employees to complete 
and return to HR (new)

13.0 Gifts and hospitality (Amendment & 
New para’s)

Declarations now made to the HR Team, 
rather than Monitoring Officer, for recording 
on the Gifts and Hospitality Register. 
(Amendment)

Cash must not be accepted with the 
exception, for example of refuse collectors 
receiving Christmas tips – this section has 
been changed to clarify that (for example for 
Refuse Collections) maximum of £5 per 
donation can be accepted and then shared 
with the rest of the crew

Declaration Form for employees to complete 
and return to HR (New)

14. Use of financial resources (New) New addition for SHDC.

20. Debts with the authority (New) Insertion of the paragraph requiring an 
employee to advise their line manager 
should they have been overpaid in error.

23.  Use of Social Media (New) New which refers to Social Media Guidance

Page 54



3.0       OPTIONS 

3.1  Do Nothing 

3.2  Approve the Code of Conduct for South Holland District Council 

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

4.1 That the amendments to the Code of Conduct be approved in order to ensure 
employees are clear on the minimum standards of conduct that they are expected to 
observe when carrying out their duties

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

5.1 To mitigate risk in the application of policies. 

5.2 To provide transparent, consistent and fair policies across the Council.

5.3 To actively support culture and change in a positive way.  

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Carbon Footprint/Environmental Issues

6.1.1 None

6.2 Constitution & Legal

6.2.1 Amendments to the Code of Conduct or related relevant policies, will be made as 
and when there are changes to constitutional or legal requirements. 

6.2.2 The Code of Conduct is designed with the intention to reduce the risk of litigation 
against the Council 

6.3 Contracts

6.3.1 None

6.4 Corporate Priorities 

6.4.1 The proposals made with the intention of supporting the Councils’ corporate priority 
of providing the right services, at the right time, in the right way by ensuring the 
recruitment of high caliber individuals are in place to help deliver the corporate vision. 

6.5 Crime and Disorder

6.5.1 None

6.6 Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

6.6.1 The Code of Conduct is a fair, equitable and transparent document with the needs of 
employees at heart.  The Council ensures compliance with equality & diversity 
making sure consideration is given to the needs of its employees, balancing these 
with the needs of the business.

Page 55



6.7 Financial

6.7.1 None

6.8 Health and Well-being

6.8.1 None

6.9 Reputation

6.9.1 By defining the minimum standards of conduct that employees are expected to 
observe this Code ensures the Council’s reputation is protected.

6.10 Risk Management

6.10.1 These proposals are made (in part) with the intention of reducing the risk of litigation 
against the Council. These proposals are made with the intention of supporting the 
Councils strategic position by enabling effective policy management appropriately 
within the bounds of the law.

6.11 Staffing

6.11.1 These proposals are made in order to ensure the best possible infrastructure is in 
place recruit, select, retain and performance manage employees across the 
Council.

6.11.2 These proposals are made to ensure both staff and management are clear on 
relevant legislation, best practice and risk mitigation.

6.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6.12.1 Consultation has taken place with Unison 

6.13 Transformation Programme 

6.13.1 These proposals are made to support the Councils’ Transformation 
Programme

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 All wards affected.

8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1 None used

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Claire Burton, HR Manager CPBS
Telephone Number: 01775 764458
Email: claire.burton@cpbs.com
Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No

Page 56



This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Code of Conduct
Appendix B            Declaration Form -Personal Interest
Appendix C Declaration Form - Gift/Hospitality

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

APPENDIX A

Officer Code of Conduct

Introduction

Operating across a large geographic area, including complex environments, the Council’s 
performance and levels of service are based on our values that guide all our activities. The Code 
of Conduct describes how the Councils put these values into practice everyday. It explains the 
Councils commitments and expectations towards our customers and each other and provides 
guidance for employees and everyone who works on our behalf.

The public is entitled to the highest standards of conduct from all employees working for the 
Councils.  Employees have an obligation to avoid conflicts between their private interests and 
their duty to the Councils, particularly where this could adversely affect the Council interests or in 
any way weaken public confidence in the conduct of the Council’s business.

This Code of Conduct (the Code) is a common reference document for all employees across both 
that defines the minimum standards of conduct that employees are expected to observe when 
carrying out their duties and is produced in the light of challenges employees face in the current, 
and more commercially orientated, environment.

Scope

This Code of Conduct applies to all employees of both South Holland and Breckland District 
Council. The Code does not apply to Elected Members, who have their own Code of Conduct set 
out in the relevant authority’s constitution.  Also in each Council’s constitution is protocol on 
Member/Officer Relations.

Aim

The objectives of the Code are to:

- set out clearly our standards of conduct
- define the Council’s expectations towards employees in their day- to day decision making 

and in their relationship with others
- provide support in case of questions or concerns

Page 59



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

- to provide guidance for all employees in order to maintain and improve standards and to 
help protect employees from misunderstanding or unjustified criticism.  

Roles and Responsibilities

Managers have specific responsibilities.  They are expected to refer to the Code of Conduct with 
their team members and make sure they understand it.  They are responsible for creating a speak 
-up climate that will enable employees to discuss any issues.  They must ensure our standards are 
implemented and respected. They must behave in an exemplary way that embodies our values

All employees must understand and respect the standards contained in our Code of Conduct

Suppliers, contractors and partners are expected to apply standards that are equivalent to ours, in 
particular towards their employees.

1.0 Employee Standards

The Councils have confidence in the motivation, competence and sense of responsibility of our 
employees. Employees are expected to provide the highest possible standard of service to the 
public, and where part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to colleagues and Members 
with impartiality.

All employees must bring our values to life through their behaviours, ensuring that they carry out 
our daily activities in compliance with the Code of Conduct.

All employees have an annual appraisal during which objectives are set, performance and the 
respect of the Code of Conduct are assessed and development opportunities, facilitated by 
appropriate training are discussed.

The Councils pay particular attention to employees’ working conditions, especially the respect for 
individuals, the absence of discrimination, freedom of association, as well as the protection of our 
health and safety. No form of harassment is tolerated.

The Councils include employees in the development and progression by initiating and facilitating, 
by consultation and by engaging in ongoing dialogue.

The Councils recruit employees solely on the basis of our requirements and the specific 
capabilities of individual applicants.

The Councils develop our employees’ professional skills and careers without any discrimination, 
whether based on origin, gender, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity or affiliation 
with a political, religious, union organisation or minority group.
Employees are expected, without fear of recrimination, to draw the attention of an appropriate 
Officer to any deficiency in service, suspected impropriety or breach of Council procedures.

Page 60



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Colleagues, Elected Members and the Public are to be treated with dignity and respect at all 
times.

2.0 Information Disclosure 

The law requires that certain types of information must be available to Members, auditors, 
government departments, service users, trade unions and the public.  The Councils may decide to 
be open about other types of information.  

Employees must be aware of which information the authority is permitted to release or not 
permitted to release due to the operation of law or a policy decision. If in doubt, guidance should 
be sought from an appropriate officer, such as the Monitoring Officer/Deputy Monitoring Officer 
before information is disclosed.

3.0 Confidentiality

Many employees are in a position to obtain information in the normal course of their employment 
which is highly confidential, politically and commercially sensitive, or is personal information 
protected by data protection regulations.

Employees may not disclose confidential information, whether verbally, in writing or 
electronically. Employees must not use any information for a personal reason or benefit, nor 
should they pass it on to others who might use it in such a way.  This includes information about 
the work of the Councils, their employees or members and the public.  Employees must make 
themselves aware of the requirements of Data Protection Act and Freedom of Information Act 
2000 and obtain advice from the Council’s designated Freedom of Information Officer, where 
applicable.

Employees are responsible for the security of information in their possession, and must ensure 
that it remains secure at all times. Appropriate security measures should be taken by employees 
when they leave their desk or when working from home or from another location.

When an employee leaves the employment of either Council they must still respect the 
confidentiality of official information that has been made available to them in the course of their 
duties and not use this information for private, commercial and political gain.

Inappropriate disclosure of information or a breach of these rules in any other way will render 
employees liable to disciplinary action and could lead to criminal prosecution.

4.0 Information Security

Employees must not misuse their position by seeking information which they do not need to know 
to enable them to carry out their duties.  To assist this, users of the Council’s information systems 

Page 61



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

must keep their equipment and logging in arrangements secure to ensure no unauthorised access. 
Employees should refer to the ICT security policy for further guidance where necessary.

5.0 Political Neutrality

Employees serve the Council(s) as a whole.  It therefore follows they must serve all Members of 
the Council and not just those of the politically controlling group, and must ensure that the 
individual rights of all Members are respected.

Senior Officers may be required to advise political groups on matters related to the Council’s 
business. They must do so in ways that do not compromise their political neutrality and should 
make themselves equally available to any and all political groupings.

By law, enforcement of the political neutrality of specific posts results in the position being 
considered “politically restricted”. Further details of politically restriction and a list of the positions 
subject to such are available on the intranet.

6.0 Relationships

Relationships with Elected Members

Mutual respect between employees and Members is essential to good local government.  

Close personal familiarity between employees and individual Members can damage the 
relationship and prove embarrassing to other employees and Members and therefore should be 
avoided.  

The Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, as set out in each Councils constitution, provides more 
detail.

Relationships with the Local Community and Service Users

Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the community they serve and 
ensure courteous, efficient and impartial delivery to all groups and individuals within the 
community.

Relationships with Contractors

All current and past relationships (including Directorship) of a business or private nature with any 
Council external contractors, or potential Council contractors, should be made known to the 
employee’s Line Manager, Senior Manager and/or Director and recorded in the Register of 
Personal Interests, held by HR.  Employees are to complete the Declaration Form for Personal 
Interests.

Page 62



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by fair competition against other tenders, and no 
special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for instance, friends, partners or relatives in 
the tendering process. No part of the local community should be discriminated against.  

Relationships between employees, and with job applicants or Members

The Councils recognise that close personal relationships may exist or develop within the 
organisations. For the purposes of the Code, such relationships are defined as:

 Individuals who are married, dating, co-habiting or similar.
 Immediate family members i.e. parents, step-parents, children, siblings, grandparent and 

grandchildren.
 Other relations e.g. extended family such as aunts, uncles, cousins, nieces, nephews and 

any other individuals with whom there is a close personal relationship.

Whilst the Councils do not seek to prevent relationships, and not all such may cause concern, 
there may be occasions where a perceived or actual conflict of interest exists.

The Code aims to ensure sensitive, effective management of such situations in order to avoid 
potential conflicts of interest, perception or accusation of bias, favouritism or prejudice. The 
Councils must also ensure that all employees feel confident of fair treatment without the fear that 
a close personal relationship will influence their or other employees’ treatment or broader 
working relationships.

Where there is a relationship (as defined), this should be disclosed, in confidence, to the Line 
Manager and HR by the employee(s) concerned (by completing the Declaration Form for Personal 
Interests).  This disclosure should be recorded on the employees’ personal file.  Failure to disclose 
a personal relationship could leave an officer open to allegations of misconduct should 
subsequent issues arise. When a relationship at work is declared, the impact of the relationship 
must be assessed by HR in consultation with a relevant manager (for example, Senior Manager, 
Director or Monitoring Officer) in the following areas:

 Potential conflicts of interest
 Potential confidentiality issues
 Impact on service users or the public
 Potential operational issues.

It is very important that any relationship is not seen to bring advantage to an employee and closer 
personal relationships between a manager and one of their staff should be avoided.  If such a 
relationship develops, it may be necessary to redeploy one of the employees.

7.0 Appointment and Other Employment Matters
Employees involved in the appointment of staff must follow established recruitment procedures 
at all times. Relationships with an applicant must be declared to HR. Employees should not be 

Page 63



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

involved in decisions about discipline, promotion or pay adjustments for someone with whom 
they have such a relationship as described above.

8.0 Outside Commitments

Employees should be aware that their contract prevents them from taking outside employment 
which conflicts with the Council’s interests. This encompasses employment both within, and 
without the bounds of the district.

Employees are required to obtain written consent from their Senior Manager before taking up any 
outside employment. This will be recorded on their personal files. It should also be formally 
recorded by in the Register of Interests held by HR.  If the request to take outside employment is 
from a Senior Manager the consent must be obtained from a Director.

In all cases Senior Managers must ensure employees remain compliant with the working time 
directive.  Advice can be provided by the HR Team.

Employees must not engage in private work in council time, on council property or using council 
equipment. Employees must also ensure that they clearly communicate that their private work is 
not being undertaken in association with the Council.

These provisions do not apply to public appointments or voluntary work such as a magistrate.

9.0 Intellectual Property, Inventions and Patents

Intellectual property is a legal term that refers to the rights and obligations received and granted, 
including copyright.  Ownership of intellectual property is determined by considering the 
circumstances in which it was conceived and developed. The Council own the copyright in 
materials made by or under their directions. This includes inventions, computer coding, drawings 
and original creative writings. Whether an employee or contractor, copyright in material produced 
in the course of work belongs to the employing Council, unless otherwise explicitly provided for in 
an employee’s contract of employment.  

Inventions and Patents made before 1 June 1978 are the property of the employer if made in the 
course of that employer’s employment.  However, the Patents Act 1977 states that after the 1 
June 1978 inventions are only the property of the employer if:

 They have been made in the course of the employee’s normal duties;
 They have been made in the course of duties specifically assigned to the employee and 

where invention might reasonably be expected, or;
 It was made in the course of the employee’s duties and at the time the employee had 

(because of the nature of their duties and particular responsibilities arising from them) a 
special obligation to further the interests of the employer.

Page 64



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

10.0 Personal Interests

Employees must register any interest they or their family members have which may conflict with 
the Council’s interests, by providing written notification to their line manager who will then 
forward to Human Resources. Such interests include, but may not be limited to: employment by, 
substantial shareholding in, or membership of any company or body, including voluntary 
organisations, which has or may enter into a contractual relationship with the Council, or which is 
involved in campaigning or lobbying in respect of any council activity

At no time should an employee allow the impression to be created that they are, or may be, using 
their position to promote a private or personal interest.

Employees must not process any claim or application to the Council for themselves, a relative or 
personal friend.

Such personal interests must be logged in the Register of Personal Interests.

11.0 Separation of Roles during Tendering

Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should be clear on the 
separation of client and contractor roles within the Council.   

Senior employees who have both a client and contractors responsibility must be aware of and 
demonstrate the need for accountability and openness.

Employees in contractor and client units must exercise fairness and impartiality when dealing with 
all customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-contractors.

Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either internal or 
external contractors should not disclose that information to any unauthorised party or 
organisation.

Employees contemplating a management buyout should, at the earliest possible moment, inform 
the relevant Chief Officer as appropriate and withdraw from the in-house contract process.

Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former employees 
or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to businesses run by them or 
employing them in a senior or relevant managerial capacity.

12.0 Corruption

Page 65



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

It is a serious criminal offence to corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage. 
If an allegation is made you may have to demonstrate that any such rewards have not been 
corruptly obtained.

13.0 Gifts and Hospitality

Employees must show good sense and tact when receiving offers of gifts and/or hospitality, and 
any such offer must be discussed with their line manager or an appropriate senior officer prior to 
their acceptance.  N.B. a senior officer is defined as one whose post is included within the senior 
management structure.   The senior officer may agree that the gift/hospitality can be accepted 
however may request that the gift is shared with the employee’s team.

When considering offers of gifts and/or hospitality, employees must be particularly sensitive as to 
the timing in relation to decisions which the authority may be taking affecting those providing 
such.  No such gifts or hospitality are to be knowingly accepted from contractors who are 
submitting a tender during a tendering period.

Employees must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence under the Local Government Act 
1972 for them corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or 
not doing, anything or show, favour, or disfavour, to any person in their official capacity.

Small gifts up to the estimated value of £25.00 such as chocolates or flowers may be accepted.   
Where any gifts or hospitality in excess of the estimated value of £25 are both offered or received, 
employees must submit a declaration, by completing the Gift and Hospitality Form, to HR for entry 
on to the register of Gifts and Hospitality, within 28 days. In such instances, it is the right of the 
authority to require that such gifts or hospitality be allocated in an appropriate way i.e. donation 
to corporate causes.

In normal circumstances cash must not be accepted.  Exceptions to this may be permitted 
provided that the amount given does not exceed £5.00, it is then shared with the rest of the team, 
and the approval of the Line Manager has been received.  An example of this exception might be 
“tips” given to refuse collectors at Christmas time.  If the individuals are in receipt of monies in 
this circumstance, it is their responsibility to declare this as part of a tax self-assessment form. 

Where necessary, an employee declining gifts and/or hospitality must do so in as gracious manner 
as possible, clearly explaining that the Code prevents them from accepting.

14.0 Use of Financial Resources

Employees must ensure that public funds entrusted to them are used in a responsible and lawful 
manner. 

The best possible value for money to the local community must be obtained in all transactions.

Page 66



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

15.0 Equipment and Materials

The Councils’ telephone, computer systems, vehicles and other equipment and materials are the 
property of the Council and are provided for employees’ business purposes and for interaction 
with the public in the delivery of services.

Personal use of the internet must be strictly within the guidelines set out in the Council’s 
Information Security Policy which is available to all staff on the Council’s intranet.  Internet use 
should be restricted to the employee’s break times, such as lunch hours, and limited to issues 
which cannot reasonably be dealt with outside working hours.  Any continued or extensive use of 
the Council’s facilities should be discussed and agreed with the appropriate Line Manager.

Serious cases of misuse of the Council’s electronic communications systems may result in 
dismissal of the employee on the grounds of gross misconduct.

Further detail can be found in the Information and Security Guides available on the Council’s 
intranet.

16.0 External Sponsorship

When an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to sponsor a Council activity, 
whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the basic rules concerning acceptance of 
gifts or hospitality apply.   Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or 
potential contractors.

17.0 Council Sponsorship of Community or Individual Activities

Where either Council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, is giving support in 
the community, and employees are giving advice, they should ensure that it is impartial and that 
there is no conflict of interest involved. 

When the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee nor their partner, 
any relative or personal friends must benefit from the sponsorship in a direct way without there 
being full disclosure to the appropriate manager, which should be recorded on the Register of 
Interests.

18.0 Security

Employees must wear or carry their ID badge or card at all times whilst on Council premises. All 
employees are required to appropriately challenge people in secure areas of the Council’s 
premises without either an Employee ID or Visitor’s Badge.

Page 67



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Employees must not allow any individual not displaying an ID or visitor’s badge to follow them into 
any secure area of the Council’s premises (this includes friends and relatives).

For the protection of the public and employees, it is particularly important that employees are 
easily identifiable whilst working out in the community.   When making visits to the homes or 
premises of the public, official Council identification should be presented promptly without being 
requested.

19.0 Standard of Appearance

The Councils have the right to expect high standards of appearance and personal hygiene from 
employees whilst undertaking their duties.  Employees should be neat and well-groomed in 
appearance, whilst dressing appropriately for the task they are undertaking, and in accordance 
with locally agreed dress code where such are in effect. As examples, employees must not wear 
items of jewellery if they may cause the wearer or another person injury; office based employees 
should be dressed in appropriate business attire whilst those who are provided with a Council 
uniform should be wear this during business hours.

Other than by prior management agreement, casual or sports clothing is not considered suitable.

Sensible and suitable footwear must be worn at all times on Council business.

Where provided, safety equipment or clothing should be worn as instructed.   No such equipment 
should be tampered with and any defects apparent must be brought to the attention of the 
appropriate officer without delay.

20.0 Debts with the Employing Authority

No employee should owe money to the Council i.e. Council tax arrears, and the existence of such a debt 
may result in disciplinary action being taken. Any such debt should be brought to the attention of the 
employees Line Manager or HR as soon as the employee is able.

Debts accrued as a result of payroll errors are exempt from the requirement for employees to 
inform their line managers. However, where the officer becomes aware of such an overpayment 
without it having been notified to them by HR, it is their responsibility to bring it to the attention 
of HR.

Any loans, training debt or other payments needing to be made to the Council prior to leaving will 
be deducted from an employee’s final pay, however if the debt is larger than the amount being 
paid, an agreement will need to be made with the Council prior to exit on the outstanding monies 
will be paid back.

21.0 Conduct Outside Working Time

Page 68



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

There is a respect of private lives and more specifically the personal data of all employees but 
employees should avoid doing anything that might adversely affect the reputation of the Council, 
bring the Council into disrepute or affect their ability to carry out their duties during work hours.

Should such misconduct occur, the Councils reserve the right to implement disciplinary 
proceedings.

22.0 Talking to the Media

Employees should be conscious of the sensitivity of some requests for information from the 
media. In responding to these requests, only the Chief Executive, Directors, Senior Managers, and 
the Communications Team should speak directly with the media.  Other members of staff may 
deal with them providing they have permission to do so from their Director or Senior Manager.

23.0 Using Social Media

The Councils’ recognise that many employees make use of social media in a personal and 
professional capacity. Employees must be aware that they can damage the organisation if they are 
recognised as being one of our employees.

Any communications that employees make through social media must not:

 bring the organisation into disrepute, for example by: 

o criticising or arguing with customers, colleagues or Members;

o making defamatory comments about individuals or other organisations or groups; 
or

o posting images that are inappropriate or links to inappropriate content;

 breach confidentiality, for example by: 

o revealing confidential information owned by the Council;

o giving away confidential information about an individual (such as a colleague or 
customer contact) or organisation or

 do anything that could be considered discriminatory against, or bullying or harassment of, 
any individual, for example by: 

o making offensive or derogatory comments relating to sex, gender reassignment, 
race (including nationality), disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief or age;

o using social media to bully another individual (such as an employee); or

o posting images that are discriminatory or offensive [or links to such content].

Page 69



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

For further information, reference should be made to the Social Media Guidance available on the 
intranet. 

24. Substances and Alcohol

The inappropriate use of alcohol or substances can damage the health and well-being of 
employees and have far reaching effects. At work, alcohol or substance misuse can result in 
reduced levels of attendance, impaired work performance and increased risks to health and 
safety. The effects of alcohol or substance use may also be detrimental to the Council’s reputation 
and image and its ability to deliver high quality services.

Alcohol and substance misuse can affect behaviour performance and relationships, both within 
work and outside. It is recognised that such issues are very sensitive and individuals may face 
difficulty in coping with this aspect of their lives. The Substance and Alcohol Misuse policy and 
procedures and aims to offer appropriate support and guidance where possible, resorting to 
sanctions only where necessary. 

Employees have a responsibility to ensure they comply with the principles of the Substance and 
Alcohol Misuse  policy and procedures. They are expected to present a professional, courteous 
and efficient image to those with whom they come into contact at all times. They therefore have a 
personal responsibility to adopt a responsible attitude towards the consumption of alcohol and 
other substances to which the policy relates.

Failure to Follow the Code of Conduct 

All employees are responsible for ensuring that the Code of Conduct is applied. The Councils 
understand that an employee may need advice in order to make sure the employee is compliant 
with the Code of Conduct. If an employee needs guidance on any topic related to the Code of 
Conduct, contact your manager, or ask someone in the HR team or another manager.

Failure to follow the Code in any aspect may be raised in disciplinary action taken against 
employees for a breach of the Council’s rules or procedures.  Criminal sanctions may apply where 
an abuse of position has occurred as a result of a Council contract or where an employee or 
his/her relatives have gained pecuniary advantages.

If employees fail to make any declaration required by this Code, it will not, in itself, constitute a 
disciplinary offence.  However, should a relationship emerge which was relevant to the 
employee’s duties and this has not been declared as set out in this Code, non-declaration might be 
taken as evidence of misconduct or gross misconduct.

August 2017

Page 70



APPENDIX B
Declaration of Interests Form

All employees are required to notify the Council in writing if they or a family member:
 have a direct or indirect financial interest in any existing or proposed contract 

involving the Council
 have any connection or potential connection with any business or organisation 

(including a voluntary body) which deals with the Council (e.g. a  relative or friend is 
a supplier to the Council)

Employees must complete and return this form to their line manager, Senior Manager and 
or Director for approval before forwarding electronically to the HR Team for recording on 
the Register of Interests.

Name:

Position:

Service Area:

Interested party (if a 
family member):

Interest/Membership 
being declared:

Reason for declaration:

Date of declaration:

Line Manager Signature

Page 71



Senior Manager/Director 
Signature 

Page 72



APPENDIX C

Declaration of Gifts and Hospitality Form

All employees are expected to show good sense and tact when receiving gifts and/or offers 
of hospitality. Where such are accepted, and are estimated to be of a value greater than 
£25, officers must complete and return the following form to Human Resources, preferably 
electronically.

Name:

Position:

Department:

Date accepted:

Description of 
gift/hospitality:

Gift/hospitality offered 
by:

Estimated value:

Acceptance authorised by 
(Senior Officer) :
Additional relevant 
information:

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel - Tuesday, 3 October 2017 

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 75

Agenda Item 14.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There are no direct carbon footprint and environmental issue implications associated with
this report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their carbon 
footprint and environmental issue implications will be assessed.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 There are no direct constitution and legal implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their constitutional and legal 
implications will be assessed.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There are no direct contract implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their contract implications will be assessed.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the topic 
links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their crime and disorder 
implications will be assessed.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 There are no direct equality and diversity or human rights implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their equality and 
diversity and human rights implications will be assessed.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their financial implications will be assessed.

Page 76



5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There are no direct health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their health and wellbeing 
implications will be assessed.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 There are no direct reputational implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, any reputational implications for the 
Authority will be assessed.

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.1 There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  As    
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their risk management           
implications will be assessed. 

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 There are no direct safeguarding implications associated with this report.  As individual       
items are progressed through the work programme, their safeguarding implications will be 
assessed. 

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their staffing implications will be assessed.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 There are no direct stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their 
stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications will be assessed.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 There are no direct Transformation Programme implications associated with this report.  
However, the Policy Development Panel and the Performance Monitoring Panel are 
meeting at regular intervals to consider the progress of the Programme, and elements of 
future Task Groups will have links to areas being addressed by the Programme.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 When a task group is considered for inclusion on the Panel’s Work Programme, it is 
assessed against criteria covering ‘Importance’, ‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’.  The 
‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’ score indicators consider how strongly the issue will affect a 
ward(s), customer group(s) or service area(s).  Only issues scoring highly will be included 
in the Work Programme.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Page 77



Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2017/18

Page 78



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
3 October 2017  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 

issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Apprenticeship Programme – To seek approval for the 
Apprenticeship Programme (Claire Burton)

 Data Retention Policy – verbal update to be presented to 
the Panel (Mark Stinson)

 Officer Code of Conduct (Claire Burton)
 Corporate Health and Safety Policy (Nick Kendrick)
 Policy for dealing with unreasonably persistent complaints, 

customer behaviour and vexatious requests (Sarah 
Wolstenholme-Smy)

7 December 2017  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Houses in Multiple Occupation – Officer from the Private 
Sector Housing Team to explain processes and issues 
around HMOs in order to assist the Panel in forming a 
clear terms of reference for a Task Group.

20 February 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Update on current situation around long-term empty 
homes (previous updates 22/7/15, 13/1/16, 5/7/16 and 
28/2/17).

 Update report on progress of recommendations of the 
Paper and Postage Costs Task Group (Task Group 
Chairman, Councillor Astill)

 Flexi Time and Toil Policy (Addition to Policy Handbook) 
(Claire Burton)

 Honorariums and Spot Bonus Policy (Addition to the 
Policy Handbook) (Claire Burton)

 Market Supplement Policy (Addition to the Policy 
Handbook) (Claire Burton)

 Stuck not Sick Policy (Addition to the Policy Handbook) 
(Claire Burton)

 Career Break Policy (Addition to the Policy Handbook) 
(Claire Burton)

24 April 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Data Protection Policy – To review the policy in light of the 
requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) (Mark Stinson)

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Page 79



Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy – Consultation with the Panel on the Strategy 
during a period of county-wide consultation (Matthew Hogan) – To be advised of new 
timetable.

Page 80



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Public Open Spaces 
Task Group

Scope to be agreed at first meeting
To look at the Council’s current policies 
on Public Open Spaces and what could 
be developed to help in the future.
In addition, following the Performance 
Monitoring Panel’s review of implemented 
planning decisions, some of the 
recommendations arising from this review 
to be addressed through the Task Group.

5 July 2016 To 
commence 
after General 
Election

J Astill
L Eldridge
J Reynolds
J Tyrrell
B Alcock (PMP)
A M Newton (PMP)

Planning Design Scope to be agreed at a later date.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
2018, after 
end of 
examination 
period of 
Local Plan.

To be confirmed

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) and 
Homelessness

Scope to be considered at PDP meeting 
5 December 2017 when an officer of the 
Private Sector Housing Team will attend 
to explain processes and issues around 
HMOs.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
following 
completion of 
Planning 
Design Task 
Group

To be confirmed

P
age 81



Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.
1. By establishing what leisure provision 

the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 
arranged.
Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 82


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	Plan

	8. Policy Register
	9. Corporate Health and Safety Policy 2017
	Appendix 1 for Corporate H & S Policy 2017

	10. Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaints Policy
	Appendix 1 for Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaints Policy

	12. Officer Code of Conduct
	Appendix 1 for Officer Code of Conduct
	Appendix 2 for Officer Code of Conduct
	Appendix 3 for Officer Code of Conduct

	14. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


